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Notes and Sources

1: Faithless but Fortunate

1 Harold Nicolson, MS: Portrait of WSC,
1947 (Columbia University, New York:
Longwell papers).

2 Cecil King diary, Feb 19, 1941 (Boston
Univ.).

3 General Sir Hastings Ismay; in Nicolson
diary, Aug 7, 1942.

4 Letter from Nigel Nicolson, Mar 23,
1978.

5 William Lyon Mackenzie King diary,
Aug 11, 1943 (Public Archives of Can-
ada, Ottawa).

6 N Chamberlain (Min of Health) to Ld
Irwin, Aug 15, 1926 (Gilbert, Winston
Churchill, vol. v, 180f).

7 WSC to Ld Hugh Cecil, unsent, Oct
24, 1923: in R Churchill, Winston Chur-
chill (London 1969), vol. ii, 7of.

8 Roskill, Churchill and the Admirals (Lon-
don, 1977), 21.

9 Roskill remarks (ibid., 33) that Gilbert
‘glosses over’ WSC’s role in this
(Churchill, vol. iii, 4off).

10 Mackenzie King diary, Aug 16, 1943.

11 From WSC, ‘My Life.” First published
in Chicago Tribune, Feb 4, 1935; original
MS at Oregon Univ., Eugene, Oregon.

12 Interview of Kay Halle, Washington,
May 1978.

13 Hankey cited in Liddell-Hart notes,
May 23, 1945 (King’s College, London:
Liddell-Hart papers).

14 WSC to Baldwin, Dec 13, 1924
(Gilbert, vol. v, 75ff; letter, Ld Beatty
to his wife, Jan 26, 1925).

15 Naval staff memo, Mar &,
(Gilbert, vol. v, 103).

16 Cf. Gilbert, vol. v, 290ff.

17 Ibid.

18 Memo on Anglo—American relations,
Nov 19, 1928 (Gilbert, vol. v, 308).
The Chartwell quotes are from the di-
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ary of Henry Scrymgeour-Wedderburn,
later an MP, Sep 21, 1928 (ibid., 301).
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19 WSC to Clementine, Nov 7 and 15,
1928 (ibid., 306fT).

20 Gilbert, vol. v, 315.

21 WSC to Clementine, Sep 9, 1929
(Gilbert, vol. v, 346).

22 WSC to Clementine, Sep 29, 1929
(Gilbert, vol. v, 348).

23 Maurice Ashley, Churchill as Historian
(London, 1968), 18.

24 Mackenzie King diary, Aug 1941 and
Aug 24, 1943.

25 Chamberlain to Irwin; see note 6.

26 John Davidson, diary, Mar 6, 1929,
recording luncheon with Sir William
Berry, later Lord Camrose (Gilbert,
vol. v, 316).

27 Interview of Kay Halle (see note 12).
She was at Chartwell that evening;
FDR’s son was present.

2: Keeping It under His Hat

1 Douglas had first published his infamous
attack, ‘The Murder of Lord Kitchener
and the Truth about the Battle of Jut-
land and the Jews,” in his obscure
weekly Plain English, Jan 1921. The at-
torney general had at the time advised
WSC to ignore it. WSC had of course
left the admiralty in 1915, one year
before Jutland.

2 Halifax, cited in Dalton diary, Dec 18,
1940.

3 Prince Otto von Bismarck, Aufzeichnung,
London den 20. Oktober 1930 (German
FO papers: Na microfilm T120, roll
5540, 56788711).

4 WSC to Beaverbrook, Sep 23, 1930
(Beaverbrook papers, C.86).

5 WSC to Randolph, 8 Jan. 1931 (Gil-
bert, vol. v, 379).

6 WSC to Baruch, Nov 1, 1931 (Baruch
papers).

7 Washington Star, Jan 10, 1932; and see
John Wheeler, I've Got News for You
(E P Dutton, New York 1961), 163. He
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also sold it to the Daily Mail.

8 Clementine to Randolph, Jan 12, 1932
(Gilbert, vol. v, 423).

9 C Murphy MS, Mar 1945 (FDR Libr.,
Winant papers, box 190, ‘Churchill’).
1o Speech in New York, 28 January, 1932

(Gilbert, vol. v, 425).

11 WSC, ‘“Zionism versus Bolshevism: A
Struggle for the Soul of the Jewish Peo-
ple,” in [lustrated Sunday Herald, Lon-
don, Feb 8, 1920.

12 WSC speech, Jan 27, 1926 (Public
Records Officer [hereafter: PRO] file
TREASURY.172/1§0%).

13 WSC to Clementine, Jan 6, 1927
(Gilbert, vol. v, 224).

14 Cited in Current Biograph)/, 1off.

15 WSC’s original typescript in Univ. of
Oregon, with his MS corrections.

16 WSC article, Mar 31, 1931 (Gilbert,
vol. v, 408f).

17 See WSC’s speech to the House on
Nov 23, 1932 (House of Commons De-
bates).

3: Wuthering Depths

1 Interview of Kay Halle, May 1978.

2 Beaverbrook to Sir Robert Borden, Jan
7,1931.

3 Beaverbrook to Arthur Brisbane, Oct
20, 1932.

4 Beaverbrook to Sir Robert Borden, Jan
7 and Mar 28, 1934.

¢ Beaverbrook to Theodor Fink, Nov 19,
1934.

6 T E B Clarke, This is Where I Came In
(London, 1974), 87.

7 Christopher Hassall, A Biography of Ed-
ward Marsh (New York, 1959), 575f.

8 The Times, reviewing The World Crisis,
vol. ii, on Oct 30, 1923.

9 Prof A J P Taylor in The Observer, May
17, 19705 ¢f. R Rhodes James, op. cit.

1o Letters, WSC to E Marsh, Aug 31,
19225 June 24, 1934; Aug 30, 1947
(Berg Library, New York).

11 Gilbert, vol. v, 333; M. Ashley,
Churchill as Historian (London, 1968).

12 Gilbert, vol. v, 303.
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13 WSC to Clementine, Nov 15, 1928
(Gilbert, vol. v, 307).

14 Colville diary, Nov 3, 1940.

15 L Amery diary, Nov 5, 1928 (Gilbert,
vol. v, 306).

16 WSC to Spears, Mar 22, 1930 (Chur-
chill College, Cambridge: Spears pa-
pers, 1/76B).

17 Gilbert, vol. vi, 961.

18 Letter, Aubrey Neil Morgan MP to
author, Dec 9, 1977.

19 WSC to the Prof, Feb 26, 1931
(Cherwell papers).

20 WSC speech to the US Congress, Dec
26, 1941.

21 WSC to Camrose, Aug 2; and to
Clementine, Aug 8, 1929 (Gilbert, vol.
v, 339).

22 C Murphy, memo on dinner party of
Mar 16, 1946 (Eisenhower Library, C
D Jackson papers, box 32, ‘Churchill’).

23 C Scribner to WSC, Mar 11, 1932
(Gilbert, vol. v, 427). They sold 4,000
copies of the final volume of Crisis.

24 Letter, Thornton Butterworth to
WSC, Nov 19, 1931 (Gilbert, vol. v,
416).

25 Jack Churchill to WSC, Sep 16, 1932
(Gilbert, vol. v, 438).

26 Correspondence Curtis

Brown and Chicago Tribune, Sep 19,

between

1932 to Feb 13, 1933 (Univ. of Ore-
gon, Eugene). And see Dr ] Richard
Heinzkill and Martin Schmitt, ‘Sir
Winston’s Potboilers,” in Imprint: Ore-
gon, Fall 1974, 3ff, and note in The Pa-
pers of the Bibliographic Society of America,
vol. 72 (1978), 359.

27 Curtis Brown to Chicago Tribune, Feb
13, 1935.

4: Wild Man in the Wilderness

1 C D Jackson, memo: Churchill speaking
during cruise with Henry Luce (Eisen-
hower Library, Jackson papers, Apr 14—
17, 1955, box 32, ‘Churchill’).

2 Lord Birkenhead, The Prof in Two Worlds
(London, 1961), 126f.

3 Hoare to Willingdon, Apr 6, 1933
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(Templewood papers).

4 WSC to Lord Burnham, Apr 9, 1933
(Gilbert, vol. v, 477).

5 Hoare to Willingdon, Apr 20, 1934
(Templewood papers).

6 WSC to Cyril Asquith, Aug 8, 1934
(Gilbert, vol. v, 584).

7 Gilbert, vol. v, 457: WSC speech, Feb
17, 1933.

8 Cabinet meeting, Mar 15, 1933.

9 WSC speech at Devonshire Club, Nov
14, 1933 (Gilbert, vol. v, 498).

1o ‘His thirst for talking military strategy
is unquenchable.” (Colville diary, Sep
20, 1940.)

11 Hore-Belisha to Liddell-Hart (diary,
Mar 10, 1944).

12 Cecil King diary, May 10, 1941,
quoting W ] Brown, sec. of Civil Serv-
ice Clerical Association.

13 Tel., Masaryk to Prague, London, Mar
15, 1934 (Berber, op. cit., No. 23).

14 Hitler’s first reply to Lord Rothermere
was on Dec 7, 1933. See the photo-
copies retained by Rothermere’s go-
between, Princess Stephanie von Ho-
henlohe, in her papers, and the two
original Ribbentrop files in the Louis P.
Lochner collection, Hoover Library.

15 WSC to Clementine, Aug 22, 1934
(Gilbert, vol. v, 559).

16 Alexander Korda told Ladislas Farago
(a reporter for News Review) over lunch
at the Korda home in Swiss Cottage.
(Interview of Farago, Jun 1979; letter
Michael Korda to author Jun 1979.)

17 Letter, Bracken to Baruch, May 21,
1947 (Baruch papers).

18 See for instance von Puttkamer’s tele-
gram to Raeder from the Berghof, May
24, 1938 (in German naval file pG/
36794): ‘The Fihrer must now assume
that Britain and France will rank

amongst our enemies.’

5: Sixty

1 From WSC, ‘My Life,” MS first pub-
lished in Chicago Tribune, Feb 4, 1935
(original MS at Univ. of Oregon).
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2 Liddell Hart related this to E Wingfield
Stratford, letter, Apr 12, 1942 (Kings
College: Liddell Hart papers).

3 D Longwell memo, Oct 15, 1953
(Longwell papers, box 2).

4 Arthur Krock MS, May 22, 1969
(Princeton Univ.: Krock papers),

5 WSC to Clementine, Feb 23, Mar 2 and
Apr 13, 1935 (Gilbert, vol. v, 612).

6 Morton to Thompson, Aug 20, 1960 (in
R W Thompson, Churchill and Morton
[London, 1976], 71).

7 WSC to Hankey, Jan 31, 1936 (Gilbert,
vol. v, 702).

8 In Dec 1940 WSC would appoint Mr
Justice Singleton to review the secret
information. Air Intelligence at that
time estimated the enemy front line at
5,710 planes, while MEW put it at
3,000. (WSC to Sinclair, Dec 9, 1940,
Cherwell papers.)

9 WSC to Cherwell, May 2, 1947 (ibid.).

10 WSC to Spaatz and reply, Jul 17, 1947
(Library of Congress: Spaatz papers).
Spaatz supplied figures from British
ADI(K) report 352/1945 on captured
GAF Equipment Branch files suggesting
that in Sep 1938 Germany had a first
line strength of 3,200 mobilised planes,
and 4,300 in Sep 1939.

11 Hinsley, vol. i, §3. This, says Prof
Hinsley, remained the best source on
the subject ‘when other sources were
providing conflicting and only tentative
assessments.’

12 Erhard Milch diary, Aug 20, 1938
(author’s microfilm pi1-59).

13 Milch diary, Feb 19335.

14 Bruce Lockhart diary, Sep 5, 1943.

15 WSC to Clementine, Apr 13, 1935.
Londonderry never deviated from his
view that WSC had grossly exaggerated
the

Britain’s troubles to the attitude which

German airforce and attributed

developed after Simon returned from
Berlin. ‘Our first line strength at that
date was 897 machines, and as I calcu-
lated at the time and verified from sub-
sequent information which I received,
the first line strength of the German Air
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Force was 12 machines.” Winston’s ‘de-
lusion’ about the German airforce had
‘disastrous results’ on foreign policy.
(Letter to Halifax, Dec 2, 1939, Ld
Halifax papers, F0.800/328.)

16 Ld Rothermere to Hitler, Apr 29; and
replyy May 3, 1935 (Hoover Library,
Stanford Univ., Calif.: Hohenlohe pa-
pers).

17 Milch diary, Jan 12—15, 1935. In Aug
1935 they began planning the 1936
budget. The airforce claimed 4,300m
Reichsmarks; Hitler said 3,100om was
possible, but Géring warned Milch that
they would probably get only 2,000m.
Later the 1936 budget (without SA) was
set at a total of 7,200m (army 4,200m,
navy 68om, airforce 2,300m).

18 Rose Kennedy memo, 1940; and WSC
to ] P Kennedy, Oct 12, 1935 (JPK pa-
pers, Kennedy Libr.). WSC had cabled
to Ld Beaverbrook on Oct 10 inviting
him to dine with Kennedy in Oct at
Claridges; B declined (Beaverbrook pa-
pers, C.86).

19 WSC: ‘Zionism versus Bolshevism: A
Struggle for the Soul of the Jewish Peo-
ple,” in Ilustrated Sunday Herald, Lon-
don, Feb 8, 1920.

20 Rothermere to Hitler, Dec 6 and Dec
16, 1935; reply, Dec 19, 1935 (Ho-
henlohe papers).

21 W C Bullitt to FDR, Feb 22, 1936. In
Orville H Bullitt, For the President (New
York, 1972), 144.

22 E.g., WSC to Flandin, May 15, 1936:
his estimate, ‘drawn from a variety of
sources,” was 1,200 first line German
machines, and 2,000 by the end of
1936; Flandin replied on May 16 giving
French estimates of 1,236 and 2,000 re-
spectively.

23 Leo Amery to Beaverbrook, Nov 7,
1936 (Beaverbrook papers, C.5).

24 WSC to Londonderry, May 6, 1936
(Gilbert, vol. v, 732).

6: The Hired Help

1 WSC to Randolph, Nov 13, 1936.
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2 Eugen Spier, Focus — A Footnote to the
History of the Thirties (London, 1963).
Credit is due to Dr Dietrich Aigner of
Mannheim Univ. for his research into
the Focus in Das Ringen um England. Das

(Munich,
1969) and particularly his unpublished
bibliography, On Producing Chaff. Materi-
als for an Inquiry (Weinheim, 1980).

3 Ld Citrine, Men and Work — An Autobi-
ography (London, 1964), 347ff.

deutsch—britische ~ Verhaltnis

4 E.g., ANG to Spears, Sep 19, 1935

(Spears papers, 1/55). Vice chairman
was Sir Robert Mond of ICI; vice presi-
dents were Nobel Peace Prize winner
and fellow-traveller Angell, Herbert
Morrison, E Sylvia Pankhurst, Canon F
Lewis Donaldson, Eleanor Rathbone;
chairman, George Latham; hon sec and
treasurer, C Q Henriques; council:
Monica Whately, A M Wall, V Adams,
P Guedalla, A Conley, P Horowitz, F
Rodgers (‘organising secretary’), L W
Carruthers, and M H Davies.

5 WSC to FDR, undated, Nov 1940
(FDR Libr., microfilm 1, 0148).

6 The fund was controlled by foreign
propaganda chief Jan Hajek. In 1923 he
paid Steed £10,000, ostensibly for ad-
vertising in his Review of Reviews, al-
though it could never handle so much
advertising; he paid Steed £8,000 on
Nov 27, 1923 and £§,000 six months
later, acknowledged by Steed to Dr E
Mastny on Mar 27, 1924. Payments
continued through the r1930s. He was
receiving 8,000 crowns monthly in
1936 (£1 = 200 crowns) and collected
£3,000 in 1938. T Masaryk gave him
120,000 crowns — half from the foreign
ministry. Czech funds flowed freely to
writers like Machray and Poliakoff;

slushed  with

100,000 crowns for an unpublished

Laurence Lyon was
book. Newspapers like the Canadian La
Presse, Montreal Daily Star, The Gazette,
Toronto Star Weekly and Globe were also
on the Czech payroll. Prague was even
subsidising Alexander Kerensky’s anti-
Soviet newspapers like Dni and Volja
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Rossiji and making payments to intel-
lectuals ‘for their service rendered to
our legions during their conflict with
the Soviets.” Stefan Osusky, MS: ‘Benes
and Soviet Russia,” in Osusky papers,
box 14 (Hoover Library). Dr R Urban,
Tajne fondy III sekce, Z. Archiva minister-
stva zahranici Republiki Ceskoslovenske
(Prague, 1943), proves that Hajek on
Dec 11, 1935 ordered 15,000 crowns
paid quarterly to Kerensky in London.

Poliakov,

vol.

de
L’Europe  suici-
daire, 1870—1933 (Paris, 1977), 230ff,
even has Steed instrumental in propa-

7 Leon in  Histoire

I’Antisemitisme, iv:

gating the ‘Protocols of the Elders of
Zion.’

8 Christian Science Monitor, Boston, Dec 4,
1936.

9 Sir Robert Bruce Lockhart, diary, Aug
17, 1936.

1o Urban (see note 6).

11 Gilbert, vol. v, 739, citing ANC min-
utes in Churchill papers, 2/282—3,
closed to other historians.

12 Spier, op. cit., 20.

13 See note 8.

14 Citrine (see note 3).

15 Gilbert, vol. v, 739, quoting Churchill
papers 2/282.

16 In 1940 Arthur Harris, commander of
No. 5 Bomber Group, discovered that
Anderson was reporting directly on his
two bomber squadrons to WSC. When
he ignored warnings Harris sacked him
and posted him to Canada. Anderson
protested to the Prof that the real rea-
son was ‘because I am regarded as a per-
sonal friend of the prime minister’s and
of other serving ministers. I am there-
fore regarded as a potential danger.’
(Sinclair to WSC, Aug 24; and Ander-
son to the Prof, Oct 29, 1940: Cher-
well papers.) Beaverbrook took him on
as personal assistant at MAP despite
Sinclair’s warnings. In 1942 WSC told
him that a number of Sinclair’s top se-
cret minutes and copies of all the PM’s
minutes to Beaverbrook had been found

in Anderson’s possession. Anderson was
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invalided out of the RAF; Beaverbrook
referred to him sympathetically as ‘the
poor fellow who went mad.” (Beaver-
brook to Sinclair, Jun 29 and Jul 13,
1942: C.311.) He died in 1982.

17 Tel., Franckenstein to Vienna, Jun 25
(NA microfilm T120, roll 1447, 568
395).

18 Hankey to Inskip, Jun 29 (Gilbert, vol.
v, 757).

19 Swinton to Hankey, Jun 26 (caB.21/
426).

20 Wigram memo, Jun 30 (FO.371/
19946).

21 See note 18.

22 WSC to Randolph, Nov 13, 1936.

23 Steed, ‘The United States and British
Policy,” address at Chatham House on
Nov 25, 1937 (in International Affairs,
London, vol. xvii, No. 1 [1938], 51—3).

24 Spier.

25 Robert Henriques, Sir Robert Waley-
Cohen 1877—1952. A Biography (London,
1966), 362.

26 It was published in the Sunday Chroni-
cle, Jul 4, 1937, and in Collier’s.

27 S Roskill, Churchill and the Admirals, 27.

28 Swinton at Cabinet Joint Planning
Committee, Sep 15,

1873).
29 Verbatim transcript of parliamentary

1936 (AIR.2/

deputation, Jul 28—29, 1936 (PREM.1/
193).

30 Evening Standard, Aug 10, 1936. Simi-
lar articles followed on Aug 21, 1936
and Jul 7, 1938.

31 Spier; and see note 8.

32 WSC to A H Richards, Oct 21 and 26,
1936.

33 Adams to WSC, Oct 20 (cited in
Gilbert, vol. v, 790).

34 Spier, g3ff.

35 WSC to Randolph, Nov 13, 1936.

36 Unpublished letter, Sarah to Clemen-
tine, May 19, 1950.

37 Arnold diary, Jun 16, 1944 (Library of
Congress, MS division).

38 Unpublished letter, Sarah to Clemen-
tine, Oct 12, 1936.

39 Letter, WSC to Baruch, Jan 1, 1937
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(Baruch papers).
40 Lothian to WSC, Mar 30, 1940 (FO.
371/24263).

7: Over-Reaching Himself

1 WSC: My Life, typescript in Univ. of
Oregon.

2 Cecil King diary, Feb 19, 1941 (Boston
Univ.).

3 Deputation of Nov 23 (PREM.1/193).

4 WSC to E L Spears, Nov 17, 1936
(Spears papers).

5 Cummings, cited in German embassy
despatch, Dec 3.

6 Naomi W Cohen, Not Free to Desist —
The American Jewish Committee 1906—
1966 (Philadelphia, 1972), 183f; and
letter, WSC to Baruch, Jan 1, 1937.

7 Letter, Italian Consul General at Cannes
to Ciano, Dec 16, 1936 (Italian embassy
in London, file 963, ‘Rapporti politici’;
and ‘Gran Bret 1: Reali Inglesi Questioni
Dinastiche: Conflitto tra Corona-Governo.’
This file includes telegrams of the Fin-
nish minister in London, George Grip-
enberg, to Helsinki, of interest since his
American wife Peggy was a friend of
Mrs Simpson (Italian FO archives,
Rome).

8 Tel., Gripenberg to Helsinki, Nov 6.

9 Ditto, Dec 15, commenting on this and
on Hoesch’s hold over Edward VIII; ¢f.
Bruce Lockhart diary, May 27, 19335.

1o F Hesse memo, London, Mar 11
(Bundesarchiv Koblenz: Hesse papers,
KIl.Erw.262—1. He died in 1980.

11 Chamberlain diary, Nov 25 (Cham-
berlain papers, Birmingham Univ.).

12 Ld Citrine, Men and Work (London,
1964).

13 Letter, Beaverbrook to Guy Ross, Dec
1.

14 Blanche Dugdale diary, Dec 5.

15 Gilbert, vol. v, 817.

16 John Parker MP, interview, Apr 1978.

17 Nicolson MS (Longwell papers).

18 Dugdale diary, Dec 8. Amery diary,
Dec 7. Hansard, House of Commons De-
bates, vol. 318, col. 1643f.
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19 Ilse Hess to Rudolf’s mother, Nov 3,
1937 (PRO: F0O.371/26566).

20 Naomi Cohen, op. cit., 183f.

21 Joseph Kennedy, cited in James V
Forrestal, Diaries, ed. W Millis (New
York, 1951), 122. Kennedy’s own anti-
Semitism was notorious.

22 WSC to Baruch, Jan 1 (Princeton
Univ.: Baruch papers). Steed left via
Canada in Sep 1937, was interviewed
by the Montreal Star, which like him
was being funded by the Czechs, met
the governor-general in Ottawa; cross-
ed into the US on Oct 5, met Sulz-
berger, Swope and Baruch. He reported
to the Focus on Oct 28, and had this to
say at Chatham House on Nov 25: ‘I
spoke confidentially to the Council on
Foreign Relations, to the Foreign Policy
Association, to the New York Jewish
Committee, to the Harvard Club and
various other gatherings. I met also
some responsible executive officers of
the United States.” (International Affairs,
vol. xvii [1938], No. 1, §1-3.)

23 WSC to Baruch, Jan 1.

24 WSC to Clementine, Jan 7 (Gilbert,
vol. v, 835); and Feb 2, 1937 (Mary
Soames, Clementine Churchill, 274).

25 Curtis Brown Ltd to Chicago Tribune
Syndicate, Mar 29; reply, Oct 29, 1937
(Univ. of Oregon).

26 Gilbert, vol. v, 835n.

27 Others included ‘A Stand against Ag-
gression’ in Mar 1938, and ‘For a Pact
with Russia’ in May 1939.

28 Churchill, vol. i, 203.

29 HV Johnson to FBI, Mar 11, 1941 (US
embassy in London, secret files, box 6,
file 820.02). Military activities in Na,
RG.84, Suitland, Maryland. Guy Lid-
dell’s original MIg report of Mar 5 was
removed from this file on British in-
structions in 1975.

30 ] Kuczynski, Memoiren (East Berlin and
Weimar, 1975), 3257. In Aug 1939 the
Left Book Club published 50,000 of his
The Condition of the Workers in Great Brit-
ain, Germany and the Soviet Union 1912—
1938.



CHURCHILL’S WAR

31 Mackenzie King diary, Aug 12, 1943
(Public Archives, Ottawa).

8: People Are Buying ‘Churchills’

1 Ironside diary, Dec 6, 1937.

2 Milch, Gedenken fur den Luftkrieg, re-
turned by Karl Bodenschatz, Feb 1,
1937 (Milch papers, deposited by the
author at Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte
[hereafter: IfZ], Munich).

3 Sir Herbert Creedy (war office) com-
mented on Steed’s memorandum on
Germany, ‘The value of this report is
much reduced by the great exaggeration
in it as to the strength of Germany’s air
force and army. Thus the source esti-
mates that Germany has between 2,000
and 3,000 war ’planes ready for service
(i.e., first line): but the Air Ministry es-
timate is about 1,000 first line and this
agrees with the strength given them by
the Germans.’ (¥F0.371/19446).

In F0.371/19914 is further evidence
of how avidly Churchill swallowed
Steed’s data. In October 1936 Steed re-
ported a (fictitious) Hitler speech at
Wiirzburg on Sep 18; warned that Hit-
ler was about to invade France through
Switzerland; advised that the Nazis had
established a submarine base off the
coast of Portuguese Guinea; and talked
about the German battleships being un-
der orders to raise ‘a good head of
steam’ (they were in fact diesel-

powered). Sending this report to an FO

official on October 20, Wickham Steed
wrote: ‘I mentioned some of it to Mr

Winston Churchill last week and he said

it “ought to go also to the Govern-

ment.” Steed added that since his own
financial resources had come to an end,

‘a wealthy friend’ had placed money at

his disposal ‘for this “research work”™ in

the summer of 1936. (The Board of

Deputies, it will be recalled, had first

funded the Focus in July 1936.) He

continued, ‘I have now six or seven
non-Jewish informants on my string.’

4 Wigram, minutes, May 12 and Jun 16.
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WSC’s and Wickham Steed’s memo-
randa on German air power; air minis-
try responses; British papers on Swin-
ton’s discussions with Milch and Wen-
ninger, and Wigram’s exchanges with
Wing Cdr. Medhurst (F0.371/19446).

5 Sir E Phipps to FO, Tel. No. 1344, and
reply, Jan 16, 1936 (F0.371/19946).

6 CID meeting, Jul 10 (FO.371/19946).
Wenninger talk with Wing Cdr. Med-
hurst, Jul 6 (ibid.).

7 Cabinet meeting, Feb 3,1937 (F0.371/
20734).

8 Their mission lasted from Jan 17-23
(reportin F0.371/20733).

9 For German documents on this mission
see Milch files, vol. 56, 3003ff (now at
BA Freiburg). Swinton discussed the re-
sults in cabinet on Feb 3, 1937.

1o Mary Soames, Clementine Churchill
(London, 1979), chap. 15.

11 F Owen MS in Beaverbrook papers,
C.86.

12 H Rauschning, Hitler m’a dit (Paris,
1939). Cf. letter, Steed to Kingsley
Martin, Aug 6, 1939: ‘I have got a num-
ber of German Aryans working on this
very problem [of making the Germans
understand encirclement] — Rauschning

Last

week I put Rauschning into touch with

and Hollermann among them. . .

Benes.” On Rauschning, ¢f. ¥0.371/
26581.

13 M J Creswell to WSC, Dec 22, 1937
(Gilbert, vol. v, 890f).

14 H Wilson to P ] Grigg, Jan 31, 1938
(Churchill College: Grigg papers).

15 H Channon diary, Apr 14, 1937.

16 Mackenzie King diary, Aug 30, 1941.

17 Cf. letter, King Saud to FDR in Mar
1945 (Leahy file 56), in Adm. William
Leahy’s words a powerful refutation of
Jewish claims to a historical right to
ownership of the Holy Land (diary, Oct
2, 1945).

18 WSC, ‘“Zionism versus Bolshevism: A
Struggle for the Soul of the Jewish Peo-
ple,’ Hlustrated Sunday Herald, London,
Feb 8, 1920. He argued that the Russian

con-

post—revolutionary experience
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firmed the case for a national home for
‘the political conceptions of the Jewish
race.’

19 Letter, Weizmann to Meyer Weisgal,
his New York agent, Jul 9, 1948; and
WSC to Weizmann, Nov 1951 (Weiz-
mann archives). WSC’s Zionist fervor
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32 US war dept. interrog of Bohle, Jul

26-27, 1945.
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38 Pearman to A H Richards, Jan 8, 1938
(Gilbert, vol. v, 894).

39 Ribbentrop, memo of Dec 28, 1937
(listed by DGFP as ‘lost,” but found by
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35 Maisky, Tel. No. 103, Mar 24. A pri-
vate Soviet source obtained for me Rus-
sian copies of Maisky’s despatches to the
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don Oct 20, Dok 270, in Kral, 286ff.)
Cadogan emphasised to Maj H R S
Massy on Oct 27, 1939 the ‘close rela-
tionship’ between the SIS and Czech
General Staff (F0.37 1/22949).
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42 German navy/airforce conference in

Berlin, May 4 (German naval staff file
PG.33272).

43 Puttkamer Tel. to OKM, May 24

(PG.36794).

44 Order of May 27 (note in German

army 1oth Branch files, Jul 23, T.78/
300/ 1029f).

45 Capt Fritz Wiedemann note Feb(?)
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und Materialien aus der Vorgeschichte des
Zweiten Weletterkrieges, 1937-1938 (Mos-
cow), 144{f.)

17 WSC to Halifax, Jul 16 (F0.800/314).
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(FO.800/ 309, fols 241f).

20 WSC to PM, Aug 24, 1938 (PREM.1/
249).

21 Adams spoke to them about the perse-
cution of the Jews in neighbouring
Germany and Poland. ‘It does not seem
to me,” he wrote Halifax on Apr 5, ‘to
lic in the mouth of the Germans to talk
about the wrongs suffered by their mi-
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saryk found out, and told Osusky; he
also told Benes on Sep 17, and Massigli
on Sep 15 (Kral, 227).

20 Phipps to Halifax, Sep 16.
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(Reynaud papers, 74aP27).

38 Nicolson diary.
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(London, 1976), 60f.

22 Nicolson diary, Apr 3.

23 H Wilson study, Oct 1941 (cas.
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31r1a.)

24 Letter, Chamberlain to his sister, Apr
13 (Templewood papers).

25 See note 4.

26 Halifax also attended. On May 12 Ld
Davies wrote him: ‘I hope I may be

but at Winston’s lunch the
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33 Lippmann’s notes, cited in Gilbert,
vol. v, 1075; Nicolson diary, Jun 14.

34 WSC Mar
(PREM.1/345).

to Chamberlain, 27

35 The Times, Daily Telegraph, Yorkshire
Post, Jun 29.

36 Daniel Longwell pressed WSC for an
explanation in letters dated May 18 and
Jun 29, 1954 — in vain (Longwell pa-
pers).

15: Two-Fisted

1 Bruce Lockhart diary, Jan 9, 1946,
quoting G M Young.

2 Max Freedman (ed.), Roosevelt and
Frankfurter: Their Correspondence 1928—
1945 (Boston, 1967); see James Leutze,
‘The Secret of the Churchill-Roosevelt
Correspondence,’ in jJournal of Contem-
porary History, vol. 10 (1975), 465ff.
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sacker papers; T.120, roll 234, 169-

N

617). According to a US embassy report
on the British press in 1942, Kemsley
shared Chamberlain’s conviction that
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(FDR papers, box 53.)

Dirksen Tel. No. 231, Jul 7
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chill, vol. i, 344f).

21 Channon diary, Easter 1939.

22 Hans-Heinrich (‘Johnny’) Herwarth
von Bittenfeld, 35, second secretary in
the German embassy in Moscow, called
US diplomat Charles Bohlen round to
tell him the secrets of the pact. (Bohlen,
Witness to History [New York, 1973],
69ff. Cf. Tel. Bohlen to State, Jul 1; and
Adolph A Berle Jr, diary, Aug 24: ‘We
have pretty clear information’ of the
‘secret arrangement’); and Pownall di-
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1518, Sep 8 (RG.84, US embassy in
London secret files, box 2, ‘y11—

War’).



DAVID IRVING

24 Hoare to Beaverbrook, Oct 1 (Beaver-
brook papers).

25 Hore-Belisha, cited in Kennedy to
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8 Hoare diary, Oct 1; and Simon diary,
Oct 7, 1939 (Bodleian Library, Ox-
ford).
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soon have the king and queen them-

. that we might very

selves in Canada.’

24 Eden diary.

25 WSC to Spears, May 26 (PREM.3/
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(PREM.3/188/6).

31 Army Group B, telex to OKH, May
31 (Weizsicker papers, T.120/155/
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10 Eden diary, Dec 19.

11 State dept. Tel. No. 1643 [Jun 13], 1
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13 Prof to WSC, Jun 13 (Cherwell pa-
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14 CAB.65/13.

15 Bryant, 172—3.

16 Colville diary, Jun 14

17 FO.800/310.
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(PREM.4/43B/1).

19 Mary Soames, Clementine Churchill,
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(Cherwell papers).
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21 Colville diary, Jun 15.
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Divers, 74AP22); Reynaud diary; Tel.,
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23 Diary.

24 CAB.65/13.

25 Halifax to Campbell, Jun 16.

26 ‘Conversations téléphoniques enrégistrées a
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23 (FO.800/312).
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12h30 est retirée. Il lit le nouveau texte
anglais apporté par Campbell a 3h30. Ybar
et Pomaret déclarent qu’ils ne veulent pas
étre sujets anglais. Chautemps: Le texte
donne lieu a des observations. Le projet est
écarte. Chautemps reparle de Iarmistice et de
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13 Colville diary, Jun 18.
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17 To Edwards (diary, Jun 23), this was
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18 Tel., Stohrer to Ribbentrop, Jun 27
(T.120/127/1196%7%).

19 WSC to duke, Sep 6, 1939; in Sunday
Express, Mar 12, 1967.

20 Ibid. Many Windsor documents in
Halifax’s file (Fo.800/327) have been
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21 Hoare to WSC, Tel. No. 437, Madrid
Jun 27: closed.
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told Ciano that the duke had told the
Spanish foreign ministry he had ‘no in-
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despite Churchill’s pressure on him; he
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d’Antibes villa. On Jul 3, explaining the
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Continent’ (Italian diplomatic archives).

23 WSC to Daniel Longwell, Jan 26,
1946 (Longwell papers; Lockhart diary,
Feb 16, 1946).

24 It was to the Tories’ good fortune that,
although arrested in April 1945, John
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Berlin (Bruce Lockhart diary, Nov 21,
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25 WSC to Mackenzie King, Jun 24
(PREM.4/43/B/1).

26 WSC to Halifax, Jun 28.

27 Cited in Gilbert, vol. vi, 584f.
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Soames, 291).

29 Colville diary, Jun 25.

30 Beaverbrook to A V Alexander, May
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German centres.” Portal submitted on
Sep 11 a list of twenty larger towns
suitable for bombing in reprisal for
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Gilbert, vol. vi, 817f).

9 Seal to WSC, Oct 3 (PREM.3/22/1).

1o This and what follows from the Hugh
Dowding papers (RAF Museum, Hen-
don: file acy1/17/2).

11 The woman was Irene Ward MP

(PREM.4/4/6).

12 The report is in PREM.4/3/6; quota-
tions are from Lee diary, Sep 12 and
Oct 4.

13 Dalton diary, Oct 3.

14 Cadogan diary, Oct 21.

15 Cecil King diary, Oct 6.

16 Daily Express, Oct 2, 1929.

17 Colville diary, Oct 8.

18 Pile, Ack-Ack, 169.

19 Colville diary, Oct 12.

20 Pile, 171.

21 Manchester Guardian, Oct 10.

22 WSC to Morrison, Nov 23, 1940
(PREM.4/40/19) and Jul 19, 1941 (Gil-
bert, vol. vi, 895n).

23 Colville diary, Oct 12; Cecil King
diary, Oct 8 and 11; Halifax diary, Oct
7.

24 Dalton diary, Oct 7: ‘I hear that on the
lower deck they call him Don’t-do-it
Dudley.’

25 Dalton diary, Nov 9.

26 Roskill, Churchill and the Admirals, 120.

27 Pound to Cunningham, Sep 20 (British
Library, Add. MS 52561).

28 Cecil King diary, Oct 18; Dalton di-
ary, Nov 9.

29 Pound to Alexander, Jun 8, 1942
(ADM.205/14).

30 Tovey to A V Alexander, Oct 9 (Alex-
ander papers, AvAR.5/4); and to Cun-
ningham, Oct 17, 1940 (Cunningham
papers, Add. MS 52569).

31 Colville diary, Oct 21.

32 Brooke papers, 3/a/iv, 241.

33 WSC to Dill, Oct 19 (PREM.3/220).

34 Colville diary, Oct 23.

35 Alastair Forbes, letter to The Times,
Oct 26, 1978.

36 Colville diary, Sep 23.

37 War cabinet, Mar 24, 1941 (caAB.65/
18).



CHURCHILL’S WAR

38 Colville diary, Oct 13, 1940.

39 WSC to Halifax, Oct 13 (caB.120/
300).

40 Colville, ‘The Churchillians,” in Sun-
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lations of the United Kingdom and the
Vichy Government in the autumn of
1940, The Times, Jul 17.

21 Paul Baudouin trial, Feb 27, 1947.
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51 Hansard, House of Commons Debates,
vol. 365, col. 108.

52 R Tree quoted in Nicolson diary, Nov
22.

53 Hap Arnold diary, Apr 18—19, 1941;

677

author’s interview of Mrs Marietta
Tree, New York, 1978.

54 Colyville diary, Nov 11.

55 In a Nov 12 minute, Wing Cdr. CP
Grant of Alr(w), spelt out to the di-
rector of home operations, Air Com-
modore D F Stevenson, the evidence
that MOONLIGHT soNATA must be a
massive night attack by moonlight using
the beams, KG.100 and both Lufiflotten
(AIR.2/ 5238, the main PRO file on the
Coventry attack; the related CAS file is
AIR.8/352). See too N E Evans, ‘Air
Intelligence and the Coventry Raid,” in
RUSI journal, Sep 1976.

56 RV Jones supplied this ENIGMA inter-
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of hindsight and self-interest.” He points
out that the duty group captain in Home

Operations had to send out two tele-

grams on Nov 14: ‘Executive Cold

Water’ when it was sure the raid was

on (see note 7o), and the target, when

identified. The first was sent at 4:15
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15,000 British had died in German

1,845 Germans);

raids.

2 Brooke diary, Nov 16. On Poincare:
Colville diary, Jan 24, 1941.

3 Colville diary, Nov 18.

4 WSC to naval staff, Oct 22 (ApM.199/
1931).

5 Keyes dates this meeting Nov 19
(xeYEs.13/5). The PM’s card for Nov
18 records ‘9:30: Meeting with st
Lord etc.’

6 Harold Nicolson diary, Nov 20. From
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52 Dalton diary, Dec 20.

53 Bruce Lockhart diary, quoting Tedder,
May 6, 1944 and Jun 25, 1944.

54 Rawdon-Smith cited in Cecil King
diary, Dec 26, 1940.
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(Czech state archives).
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60 Dalton diary, Dec 20, 1940.
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17 Memo on meeting, Mar 17, 1944 of
Stettinius mission (State dept. files: Of-
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(PREM.4/17/1).

24 Draft Tel., WSC to FDR, Dec 17
(ibid.).
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26 Washington to FO, Dec 23.
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the war’) or other worldwide assets.
‘Railroads or all other property in South
America or elsewhere were not wanted
by us.” Wickard limited himself to the
observation ‘that many people in the
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51 Dalton diary, citing Desmond Morton,
Feb 2.

52 Nicolson diary, Jan 22; Hansard, House
of Commons Debates, col. 263.

53 Hopkins, handwritten memo on Che-
quers notepaper, Jan 25 (Hopkins mi-
crofilm 19).

54 WSC minute, Jan 6 (cited in Gilbert,
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“The only thing which can effectively
prevent further Japanese adventuring is
display of physical force and of willing-
ness if necessary to use the said force.’
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45 Churchill, vol. iii, 106.

46 Bruce Lockhart diary, Mar 4.
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52 WSC to Hopkins, Feb 23 (Fo.954/
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Second World War (HMSO, London,
1949), 234.

56 Presidential press conferences, vol.
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40: The Midas Touch

1 Dalton diary, Jan 9, 1942.
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32 WSC to FDR, Mar 19 (FDR microfilm
6/90353f).

33 Letter, Biddle to FDR, Apr 26 (PSF);
Biddle: FDR Library; Colville diary and
Seal letter, Mar 19 (Gilbert, vol. vi,
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102).

38 Summary report by A/D, Jun 24 (Dal-
ton papers).

39 Heeren to German FO, Belgrade, Mar
26 (White Book No. 7, Dok. zum Kon-
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58 ADM.233/88.

59 Colville diary, Mar 31.
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Fighter Command war room log gives
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ernment’s own foreknowledge. Mar 29,
1941: ‘16:00 hrs DAC [duty air com-
modore] special message, Target to-
night [will be] Avonmouth & Bristol.’
Apr 1: ‘20:28 hrs, beams. DAC re-
ports, [beam] Cherbourg 345° true on
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have no operations for tonight.” Apr 10:
‘17:50 hrs. Target tonight. Indications
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attacked.” It was, and so the warnings
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cities affected (AI1R.16/698).

2 Winant to FDR, Apr 14 (Suitland: Wi-
nant papers, box 1, RG.54); notes by
Winant (ibid.); and Harriman’s version
in Winant to State dept., Tel. No.
1470, Apr 14; Cdr. Thompson MS.

3 H H Arnold diary, Apr 16 (Library of
Congress: Arnold papers).

4 cAB.120/ 10.

5 Cadogan diary, Apr 7.

6 Colville diary, Apr 7.



CHURCHILL’S WAR

7 Dalton diary, Apr 9.

8 Nicolson diary, Apr 9.

9 FRUS 1941, vol. ii, 836f.

1o Anneliese Schmundt diary, Apr 17 (in
this author’s possession). Her husband
was Hitler’s chief adjutant.

11 Gen. Lee diary, Apr 22. The war
room log (see note 1) shows that the
government had precise forewarning.
‘Special message,’ the log recorded five
minutes before 6:00 p.M.: ‘KG.100 [the
German Pathfinder unit] are preparing
to operate tonight. Unlikely to be a
western target.” Then: ‘Beam, Cher-
bourg 30° true through London.” At
7:42 p.M.: ‘The attack on London is
likely to start at 21:20 hrs.’

12 Cadogan diary, Apr 17; Cecil King
diary, Apr 16.

13 Arnold diary, Apr 18.

14 WSC to Longmore, Apr 18 (Gilbert,
vol. vi, 1065).

15 King diary, Apr 22; Colville diary, Apr
18.

16 Note, Apr 18 (PREM.3/14/3); PM’s
card.

17 Benes telegram, Apr 24: ‘He [Chur-
chill] promised help . . . concerning re-

cognition and setting up a provisional

government and he will assist us to get

American recognition.” (Hoover Li-

brary: Taborsky papers, box g, file ‘Dr

Benes messages . . . to Czechoslovakia

1941.”)

18 Beaverbook papers (House of Lords
Records Office).

19 Hankey papers.

20 Cecil King diary, Feb 19.

21 Brooke diary, Apr 27; and Hankey
diary, May 1.

22 Quoted in Hugh L’Etang, Fit to Lead?
(London, 1980), 32.

23 Cadogan diary, Apr 28; Dalton diary,
Apr 29.

24 Defence committee meeting, Apr 28
(cAB.69/2); Churchill, vol. iii, 241.

25 Lindemann to WSC, Apr 28. On May
7 he repeated that Hitler’s oil position
would be permanently secured if he

captured Iraq (Cherwell papers).
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26 Ivan Maisky memoirs, 637, quoting
Swedish minister Byérn Prytz; PM’s
card, Apr 3o0.

42: The Telephone Job

1 E.g., Oliver Stanley; Dalton diary, Apr
28 (confidential annex).

2 Gen. Kennedy, DMO: Lee diary, Apr
15.

3 Lee and Arnold diaries, Apr 21.

4 Lee diary, May 21.

5 Sir C Wilson (Lord Moran) to Beaver-
brook, Apr 18, and reply Apr 19 (Bea-
verbrook papers, D.141). Cecil King
diary, Jul 17.

6 Dalton diary, Jun r1.

7 Ibid., Apr 28.

8 Cecil King diary, Mar 27.

9 Shinwell told Stewart Campbell (Daily
Mirror) this (ibid., Feb 19).

1o Ibid.

11 Gilbert, vol. vi, 1090.

12 Letter, Canadian High Commissioner
Vincent Massey to Ottawa, Jun 7
(MG26, J1, vol. 312).

13 Cecil King diary, May 1.

14 Cadogan diary, May 5.

15 Colville diary, May 2. Harriman wrote
to FDR on May 7 that the PM often
took him to the devastated cities. Hav-
ing an American around was ‘of value
for the morale of the people.” He and
Winant were at Swansea, Bristol and
Cardiff; James Forrestal at Liverpool
and Manchester. “This week we go to
Dover.” (FDR Library.)

16 FDR to WSC, May 1 (FDR microfilm
1/0228).

17 PREM.3, 469/350.

18 WSC to FDR, May 4 (FDR microfilm
1/0306).

19 Winant reported this to Roosevelt,
May 6, 9:00 p.m. (FDR Library, PSF
file “Winant’; and FDR microfilm 6/
0371).

20 Colville diary, May 3.

21 (f. cabinet meetings, May 4—5 (cas.
105/4); Cadogan refers on May 4 to

‘secret news’ that the Germans in Libya
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were uncomfortable.

22 WSC to Wavell May 4 (Gilbert, vol.
vi, 1080).

23 COS meeting, Apr 22 (caB.79/11).

24 Stimson diary, unpublished, May 15—
16. Confiding to Stimson on May 27 the
progress of talks with the Japanese, Hull
again remarked how ‘bitterly disap-
pointed’ he had been to realise that the
British could read the intercepts.

25 WSC to Dill, May 13 (Wo.216/5).

26 Hinsley, vol. i, 418 quoting CX/]JQ
911, May 6.

27 RG.457, SRH.037: Group Capt. R
Humphreys, ‘The Use of “U” in the
Mediterranean and Northwest African
Theatres of War,” Oct 1945.

28 Cecil King and Colville diaries.

29 WSC to Pound, Portal, Dill, May 10
(PREM.3/109).

30 FO.371/26566.

31 Letter, Karl to Albrecht Haushofer,
Sep 3, 1940 (ADAP [D], vol. xi, No.
12).

32 Hess—Beaverbrook conversation, Sep
9, 1941 (Beaverbrook papers, D.443).
33 Cf. Duff Cooper’s account of how MIg
intercepted the duke’s correspondence
(Cecil King diary, May 15). The inter-
cepted Hess—Haushofer—Hamilton let-
ters are in file F0.371/26565, closed

until 2016.

34 Letter, Hamilton to Air Ministry, Apr
28 (Hamilton, op. cit., 148). The Haus-
hofer papers are on Na microfilm 1253,
roll 46. Albrecht Haushofer was exe-
cuted by the Germans; Karl committed
suicide in Allied custody.

35 J Martin diary, May 11: ‘Arrival of
Duke of Hamilton to report on arrival
of Rudolf Hess.’

36 Hamilton—Hess conversation, May 11
(Nuremberg document M116, a certi-
fied copy by David Maxwell Fyfe of an
original said to be in FO files).

37 Beaverbrook—Hess conversation, Sep 9
(Beaverbrook papers, D.443).

38 Berlin Document Centre file 236:
Rudolf Hess.

39 Cecil King diary, May 15.
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40 ND: M-117.

41 Colville diary, May 13.

42 Unpublished memos, James H Rowe
Jr to FDR and to ‘Missy’ LeHand, May
14 (FDR microfilm 1/00242f).

43 FDR to WSC, received May 15, in
800.2 Germany, Hess: London embassy
files; and FDR microfilm 1/0241.

44 Cecil King diary, May 15. FDR won-
dered on May 20 what was ‘really be-
hind’ the story (Sherwood, 294). For
American uneasiness about Hess, see
Lee diary, May 24.

45 ND: M-119.

46 Cadogan diary, Jun 11. The fullest
transcripts of Simon’s talks (Jun 9) are
in his papers at the Bodleian Library,
Oxford; and ¢f. IMT, vol. xi, 279—291.

47 Beaverbrook papers, D.443; ¢f. Dalton
diary, Jun 16.

48 Cadogan diary, Jun 16.

49 F0.371/26566. Benes learned that the
SIS saw the Haushofer approach as ‘an
excellent opportunity” and sent a reply
‘purporting to come from the duke.’
Further letters, Benes$ learned, had ar-
ranged when Hess should fly to the
duke’s estate; his actual arrival had cre-
ated panic in London. Benes, interview
with Compton Mackenzie, Dec 13,
1944 (Hoover Library: Taborsky pa-
pers, box 4). A 1941 account of what
security sources told Benes is: Prisna du-
verna zprava z britskeho uredniho prameno
[vojenskeho] (ibid., box 6). Haushofer’s
letter ‘never reached Hamilton because
the Secret Service intercepted it and an-
swered it instead. Several letters were
exchanged and in the end Hess actually
came to England and he fell into the
trap.” ‘Among leading British person-
ages,” Bene$ learned, ‘a furious argu-
ment is raging as to whether Hess set
out ... with the knowledge and con-

sent of Hitler or not. .. He acted as
though he was an official negotiator and
expected all the prerogatives accruing
from this role.’

50 Morton to WSC, Jul 28 (prEM.3/
219/2).
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43: Turning Point

1 WSC to Ismay, Dec 11 (PREM.3/ 124/
2).

2 Freyberg to New Zealand government,
May 1 (Churchill, vol. iii, 244).

3 Wavell to WSC, May 15 (ibid., 249).

4 Sonderkommando von Kiinsberg: Bericht
iiber die Tatigkeit des Britischen Vizekonsuls
Pendlebury auf Kreta, Juni 1941 (German
federal archives: MGFA/DZ III, fol.
29).

5 Letter, ] Martin to home, May 138.

6 Churchill, vol. iii, 250.

7 See note 4; and the letter from Maj.
John Biddulph, a Cambridge contempo-
rary, April 1982.

8 Gen. Lee diary, quoting Lady Warwick,
Oct 11, 1940; Gilbert, vol. vi, 1031n;
Spears excised the word louche from the
published text of his diary.

9 Martin MS; Cadogan diary, Nov g and
8, 1940.

1o Pétain cited in Adm. William Leahy
diary, Mar 18; and in letter, Leahy to
FDR, Mar 19 (Leahy papers).

11 Ibid.

12 Weizmann to WSC, Feb 7; and reply,
J Peck for ] Martin, to Weizmann
(Weizmann archives).

13 Weizmann to Jewish Agency Execu-
tive, reporting conversation with WSC
on Mar 12 (Weizmann archives); Har-
vey diary, Nov 1, 1941.

14 WSC paper on Syrian policy, May 19
(caB.120/ 10).

15 Admiralty to Tovey, May 18: 9:55
A.M. (ADM.223/78); in general, Ludo-
vic Kennedy, Pursuit (London, 1974).

16 Admiralty to naval commands, May
21, 6:28 P.M. (ADM.223/78).

17 WSC to FDR, May 23 (FDR microfilm
1/0323).

18 Adm. Siid-Ost: Kurzer Bericht iiber Op-
eration  Motorseglerstaffel ~ Malemes-Hera-
klion an SKL v. 23.5.1941 (in war diary
of Adm. Stid-Ost, German archives, III
MB8oo/2); Karl Gundelach, Der Kampf
um Kreta, in Entscheidungsschlachten des

Zweiten Weltkrieges, 127.
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19 Cunningham to admiralty, May 23
(Churchill, vol. iii, 259).

20 Roskill, vol. i, 441; Playfair, vol. ii,
137.

21 Colville diary, May 23.

22 Dalton diary, May 26, quoting Rex
Fletcher; Ismay, 219.

23 Capt. Ralph Edwards says Churchill
insisted on this signal (RUSI Journal, Feb
1953: admiralty to Rodney, May 23,
2:48 P.M.).

24 apM.233/88: Colpoys, ‘Admiralty
Use of Special Intelligence in Naval Op-
erations,” §3—73.

25 Admiralty to Tovey, May 25, 7:00
p.M.; CX/]JQ 993; and aDM.223/78,
ULTRA signal, 6:12 .M., May 25.

26 Colville diary, May 24—5.

27 Odyssey, 374f; admiralty to Cunning-
ham, May 25, 9:32 p.m. (British Mu-
seum, Add. MS 52567).

28 Cunningham to admiralty, May 26
(Churchill, vol. iii, 260).

29 Dalton diary, May 26; and ¢f. Colville
diary, May 25.

30 Eden to WSC, May 26 (cited in
Gilbert, vol. vi, 1095).

31 WSC to Freyberg and to Wavell, May
27 (Churchill, vol. iii, 262).

32 Lee diary, May 26. Winant eventually
praised Churchill to FDR, but said that
his colleagues were rotten (Stimson di-
ary).

33 It was actually transmitted at 11:37
A.M. on May 27 (Kennedy, 225; and
Churchill, vol. iii, 282).

34 Kennedy, 225; Roskill, Admirals, 125.

35 By noon-thirty Adm. Ghormley had
"phoned the news from the admiralty to
his embassy.

36 Tovey to admiralty, May 27, 11:19
A.M.; and WSC’s reply, 4:10 P.M.,
adding ‘. . . however much we admire a
gallant fight.’

37 Martin MS (Hansard, House of Commons
Debates, May 27, cols. 1714—8); Nicol-
son diary.
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44: Beaverbrook, BATTLEAXE and
BARBAROSSA

—_

Clementine Churchill to Hopkins, Apr
10, 1942 (FDR Library: Hopkins mi-

crofilm 11).

[N]

Bruce Lockhart diary, Jun 24, 1941 —

‘recently’; PM’s card, Jun 19.

3 Colville diary, Jun s.

4 Bevin, cited in memo from A Christian-
sen to Beaverbrook, Oct 28, 1942 (Bea-
verbrook papers, C.38).

5 Brooke diary, May 13 and 27, Jun 19
(original). Brooke suggested that 20 per
cent of AFV output be for spares. “This
was not appreciated by the PM, who
likes to put the whole of his goods in
the shop window.’

6 Beaverbrook to WSC, Jun 3 (Beaver-
brook papers, D.417).

7 Beaverbrook—Hess conversation, Sep 9
(Beaverbrook papers, D.443).

8 Londoner’s Diary, Evening Standard, Feb
29, 1940. Beaverbrook’s dinner guests
were McGovern, James Maxton and
Campbell Stephen.

9 Greenock By-Election Special reported Mc-
Govern’s speech of May 25. According
to Cecil King’s diary (Jun g) Beaver-
brook sent Express general manager E ]
Robertson personally to kill the rival
Daily Mirror’s story.

1o Tel., WSC to Beaverbrook, Jun ro.

of

the Mar 5, 1940 dinner in his letter of

Jul 2, 1941 (copy to WSC). The sheer

number of press communiqués, drafts

McGovern reminded Beaverbrook

and redrafts in file D.446 testifies to an
uneasy conscience.

11 Beaverbrook to W J Brown, Apr 16,
1942: ‘I send you my personal good
wishes and my hopes and expectations. I
cannot oppose the Churchill candidate
but I hope the newspapers give you a
good show. Mention this telegram to
Robertson.” (State dept. file 841.00/
1589.)

12 Lee diary, May 27.

13 Colville diary, May 29.

14 WSC to Dill, Jun 7; Colville diary, Jun

690

3.

15 PREM.4/68/9. Dowding had taken an
airforce mission to North America in
November 1940; he quarrelled with
Slessor and in Canada he expressed
views so obnoxious that Churchill de-
cided in March it was ‘high time’ he
came home. ‘No reason need be as-
signed.” WSC to Beaverbrook, Mar 29
and 31 (Beaverbrook papers, D.29).

16 WSC minutes to Ismay, May 27 (cited
in Gilbert, vol. vi, 1097).

17 Hewel diary, May 31 (in the author’s
possession).

18 Bletchley intercepts OL/ 523 and 525.

19 For FO scepticism, see Fo.371/
29479.

20 COS meeting with JIC on Apr 22
(caB.79/11 and file wo.190/893).

21 Churchill, vol. iii, 373—7.

22 ‘Winston,” he added proudly, ‘had
said Hitler would attack Russia, and said
this some four months before’ (Macken-
zie King diary, Aug 24).

23 Churchill, vol. iii, 320ff. Cf. Eden to
WSC, Oct 14 (Gilbert, vol. vi, 1051n).

24 CX/]JQ/S/ 11, dated May 31 (cited in
Hinsley, vol. i, 474).

25 Churchill, vol. iii, 326.

26 Ibid., 319.

27 COS to Wavell, May 31 (Churchill,
vol. iii, 318). ¢f. Cadogan diary, Jun 2,
and Bruce Lockhart diary, Jun 3.

28 Letter, WSC to Randolph, Jun 8 (Gil-
bert, vol. vi, 1107).

29 Conference, Justice Robert H Jackson
with First Secretary Donald R Heath,
on Mar 29, 1946: Schacht had told him
‘on about June 6’ (NA: Jackson papers,
Schacht file).

30 Visits by Birger Dahlerus are recorded
in Géring diary, Mar 25, 27 and Jun 16;
and ¢f. Bernd Martin, Friedensinitiativen,
470; Woodward, vol. i, 620f.

31 Sikorski cited in Biddle to FDR, Jun 20
(FDR  Library: PSF, box 34, folder
‘Ambassador A ] Biddle Jr, 1937/
1941°).

32 For typical criticism see Channon di-
ary, Jun 6.
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33 Colville diary, Jun 6.

34 Cecil King diary, Jun 7, quoting the
Sunday Pictorial’s Stewart Campbell.

35 Cecil King diary, Jun 12.

36 Cf. Bruce Lockhart diary, Feb 27,
1944.

37 Kathleen Harriman cited in Bruce
Lockhart diary, Apr 6, 1942.

38 Cadogan diary, Jun 9.

39 Mackenzie King diary, Apr 16—21.

40 WSC to FDR, May 31 (FDR microfilm
1/0337).

41 See e.g., Wickard diary, Jun 8; Stim-
son diary.

42 WSC to Pound, Alexander, May 28
(ADM.199/1933).

43 WSC to FDR, Jun 8 (FDR microfilm
6/0010).

44 Letter, Johnson to WSC, Jun 12 (US
embassy in London, secret files).

45 WSC to Ismay, Jun 14 (Gilbert, vol.
Vi, 1110).

46 Martin and Cadogan diaries, Jun o;
Bruce Lockhart diary, Jun r1.

47 Eden minute, Jun 9 (F0.371/26521).

48 Cabinet meeting, Jun 9 (caB.65/22).

49 Massey reported this denial to Ottawa
on Jun 13. Cripps told him the same on
Jun 15: ‘It is Cripps view that German
motive is not economic, because in his
opinion Russia would be prepared to
sign any economic agreement which
Germany would demand, but that Ger-
man aim is to remove menace of the
Russian Army from her eastern fron-
tiers before it gets too strong.” (MG26,
j1, vol. 312).

5o Eden cited by Herschel V Johnson,
Tel. to State dept., Jun 11. In his Rus-
sian memoirs Maisky mentions only Ca-
dogan (641).

51 The telegram was in Oshima’s chef de
mission cypher. Oshima saw Hitler at
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7:oo P.M. on Jun 3. Walther Hewel,
who made the (now missing) official re-
cord, noted in his diary only: ‘Andeutun-
gen [Hints about] BARBAROSSA.’

52 Hinsley cites only the (classified) Jun
12 report JIC(41)252(0). Sikorski para-
phrased this intercept to Biddle on Jun
20; see note 31.

53 JIC report, Jun 12 (cited in Churchill,
vol. iii, 318).

54 Izvestia, Jun 14.

55 P J Grigg cited in Nicolson diary, Jun
24.

56 Letter, Wing Cdr. Oscar Oeser to
Jean Howard, Apr 12, 1975.

57 Dalton diary, Jun 16; ¢f. Jun 20 and
21.

58 WSC to FDR, Jun 14 (FDR microfilm
1/03§5; PREM.3/230/1).

59 Brooke diary, Jun 17 (original)

60 Colville diary, Jun 18.

61 Bruce Lockhart diary, Jun 18.

62 News Chronicle, Jun 18.

63 Cecil King diary, Jun 20.

64 WSC to FDR, Jun 26 (FDR microfilm
1/0358) and reply, Jul 10 (1/0362ff;
PREM.3/426/3).

65 Colville diary, Jun 19 (cited in Gilbert,
vol. vi, 1112).

66 O Harvey diary, Jun 25.

67 Colyville diary, Jun 20.

68 WSC to Lord Linlithgow, Jun 20
(cited in Gilbert, vol. vi, 1113); and to
FDR, Jun 22 (ibid., 1115).

69 Martin MS.

70 WSC to Ismay, Jun 21 (caB.120/10).

71 Colville diary, Jun 22.

72 Winant (op. cit., 203) says he arrived
on Jun 20 at Chequers.

73 Lockhart diary, Jun 20, 1942.

74 Churchill, vol. iii, 37:1f; only this

speech is transcribed in Beaverbrook’s

files (C.87); Lee diary, Jun 22.
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